IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. WOODEL, :
 Appellant, :
vs. :
STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 Appellee. :
_____ :

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar Number 0234176

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P.O. Box 9000-PD
Bartow, FL 33831
(863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of 23 total volumes: the original 17-volume record, plus a one-volume "Addendum to Record," a three-volume "Evidence Report," a one-volume "Addendum to Evidence Report," and a one-volume supplemental record.

Appellant, Thomas D. Woodel, will be referred to in this brief by name or as "Appellant."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 16, 1997, a Polk County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Appellant, Thomas Davis Woodel, with two counts of murder in the first degree, one count of armed robbery, and one count of armed burglary. (Vol. I, pp. 129-132) The indictment alleged that Mr. Woodel killed Clifford and Bernice Moody on or about December 31, 1996 by cutting or stabbing them with a knife or other sharp instrument. (Vol. I, pp. 129-130)

Mr. Woodel was tried by a jury on November 16-20, 24, 30 and December 1-4, and 7, 1998, with the Honorable Robert E. Pyle presiding. (Vol. I, pp. 32-43) On December 4, 1998, the jury returned verdicts finding Mr. Woodel guilty as charged on all four counts of the indictment. (Vol. I, pp. 40-42; Vol. II, pp. 250-253) The penalty phase was held on December 7, 1998. (Vol. I, pp. 42-43) Mr. Woodel's jury returned recommendations that he be sentenced to death for both homicides. (Vol. I, pp. 42-43; Vol II, pp. 257-258) The vote as to Bernice Moody was 12-0. (Vol. I, p. 43; Vol. II, p. 258) The vote as to Clifford Moody was 9-3. (Vol. I, p. 42; Vol. II, p. 257)

On January 26, 1999, Judge Pyle sentenced Thomas Woodel to death for both killings. (Vol. I, pp. 48-52; Vol. II, pp. 265-277) Judge Pyle sentenced Mr. Woodel to concurrent life

sentences for the robbery and the burglary. (Vol., pp. 48-52; Vol. II, pp. 273-277)¹

In his written order imposing the two sentences of death upon Mr. Woodel, the court found four aggravating circumstances: (1) Mr. Woodel had previously been found guilty of another capital offense (based upon the two contemporaneous killings); (2) the killings were perpetrated while Mr. Woodel was engaged in the crime of burglary; (3) the killings were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (4) the victims were especially vulnerable due to advanced age or disability. (Vol. II, pp. 266-268) The court considered and specifically rejected as not supported by the evidence a fifth aggravator proposed by the prosecution: "that the death of the [sic] Clifford Moody occurred as a result of Woodel's effort to escape and avoid being arrested." (Vol. II, p. 268) The court briefly discussed the mitigating circumstances before concluding that they were "far outweigh[ed]" by the aggravating circumstances and that sentences of death therefore were appropriate. (Vol. II, pp. 268-269)

Thomas Woodel appealed to this Court (Vol. II, p. 280), which issued its opinion on December 20, 2001. (Vol. II, pp.

¹ The sentencing guidelines scoresheet filed herein called for a maximum prison sentence of 104.75 months for the two non-capital offenses. (Vol. II, p. 279) As justification for imposing an upward departure sentence, Judge Pyle wrote: "unscorable capital convictions." (Vol. II, p. 279)

304-326)² The Court affirmed Mr. Woodel's convictions, but vacated the two death sentences and remanded "with instructions that there be a new sentencing proceeding before the trial court in accord with the procedures set forth in Jackson v. State, 767 So.2d 1156, 1160-61 (Fla.2000)." (Vol. II, p. 304) The Court ascertained that the sentencing court's treatment of Mr. Woodel's mitigation did not conform to legal requirements. The trial court "summarily dispose[d] of mitigation," thus rendering this Court "unable... to provide meaningful review of the imposition of the death sentence or undertake [its] proportionality review. [Citation omitted.]" (Vol. II, p. 325)

Upon remand to Polk County, the Honorable Susan W. Roberts, Circuit Judge, entered an order on October 4, 2002 that "a new penalty phase as to both the aggravators and the mitigators" be held "before a twelve (12) member jury." (Vol. II, p. 327) Judge Roberts' order noted that "the trial judge who authored the sentencing order [was] no longer available to respond to the mandate as he ha[d] retired and [was] not a senior judge available to sit on the trial bench." (Vol. II, p. 327)

The new penalty trial was held on July 6-20, 2004, with Judge Roberts presiding. (Vol. III, p. 1-Vol. XVII, p. 2652) On July 20, 2004, after hearing evidence presented by both the State and the defense, Thomas Woodel's jury returned a

² The opinion is reported at 804 So.2d 316.

recommendation that he be sentenced to life imprisonment for the murder of Clifford Moody. (Vol. III, p. 363; Vol. XVII, pp. 2648-2649) The jury recommended that Mr. Woodel be sentenced to death for the murder of Bernice Moody, by a vote of seven to five. (Vol. III, p. 364; Vol. XVII, p. 2649)

A Spencer³ hearing was held before Judge Roberts on March 17, 2005. (Vol. II, pp. 334-362)

On July 1, 2005, Judge Roberts sentenced Thomas Woodel to life in prison for the murder of Clifford Moody, and sentenced him to death for the murder of Bernice Moody. (Vol. III, pp. 376-403) In her written sentencing order, Judge Roberts found four aggravating circumstances to exist (Vol. III, pp. 394-396): (1) Mr. Woodel was previously convicted of another capital felony (the contemporaneous murder of Clifford Moody); (2) the killing of Bernice Moody was committed while Mr. Woodel was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit or flight after committing or attempting to commit a burglary; (3) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; (4) the victim of the capital felony was particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability. The court gave "great weight" to the first three aggravating factors and "moderate weight" to the last aggravator. (Vol. III, pp. 394-396) In mitigation, the court found four "statutory" mitigators to exist, as well as 10

³ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla.1993).

"non-statutory" factors, giving some "moderate weight," and others "little weight." (Vol. III, pp. 397-402) The statutory mitigators found by Judge Roberts were: (1) Thomas Woodel has no significant history of prior criminal activity (moderate weight); (2) Mr. Woodel's age of 26 years at the time of the offense (little weight); (3) Mr. Woodel's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired due to his consumption of alcohol (little weight); and (4) the capital felony was committed while Mr. Woodel was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (little weight). (Vol. III, pp. 397-398) Non-statutory mitigators found by Judge Roberts were: (1) Thomas Woodel was physically abused as a child (moderate weight); (2) Mr. Woodel was neglected and rejected by his mother and others (moderate weight); (3) there was instability in the location of Mr. Woodel's homes as a child (moderate weight); (4) both of Mr. Woodel's parents are deaf and mute (moderate weight); (5) Mr. Woodel's abuse of alcohol and drugs (little weight); (6) Mr. Woodel's willingness to meet with the daughter of Clifford and Bernice Moody (little weight); (7) Mr. Woodel's willingness to be treated for possible bone marrow donation for his daughter who had leukemia (little weight); (8) Mr. Woodel has come to believe in God and that he is forgiven for these offenses (little weight); (9) Mr. Woodel voluntarily

confessed to the murders (little weight); (10) Mr. Woodel has shown compassion for others (little weight). (Vol. III, pp. 398-402)

Thomas Woodel timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on July 27, 2005. (Vol. III, p. 404)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

State's Case⁴

In December, 1996, Appellant, Thomas Woodel, was working at a Pizza Hut on Highway 192 in Polk County. (Vol. XI, pp. 1523-1525) He had worked there for five or six months. (Vol. XI, p. 1525) He worked mostly as a dishwasher, but he sometimes cut the pizzas, and he was learning to cook. (Vol. XI, p. 1526) Mr. Woodel's sister, Bobbie, also worked at the Pizza Hut, as a cashier. (Vol. XI, pp. 1526-1528) She and her brother lived in a trailer belonging to another Pizza Hut employee, Leola Kilbourn, located in Outdoor Resorts of America. (Vol. XI, pp. 1528, 1530) Thomas Woodel would sometimes ride his bike to work, and sometimes he would walk. (Vol. XI, p. 1529) Pat Mueller, who supervised the 4:00 to closing shift, gave him rides home between 20 and 25 times, and sometimes sent a driver to pick him up so that he could make it to work. (Vol. XI, pp. 1522-1523, 1526, 1540)

About a week before the instant homicides, Bobbie Woodel took a vacation and went out of the State. (Vol. XI, p. 1527)

⁴ In addition to presenting the testimony of "live" witnesses, the State presented the testimony of the following witnesses by having transcripts of their testimony from Thomas Woodel's first trial read into the record: Rena Dupuis (Vol. XII, pp. 1666-1672), Thomas Collick (Vol. XII, pp. 1672-1709), Kathryn Collick (Vol. XI, pp. 1709-1723), Lavern O'Connell (Vol. XII, pp. 1724-1734), Elmer Schultz (Vol. XII, pp. 1734-1752), Stewart Moody (Vol. XIV, pp. 2036-2038), and Joann Scanlon (Vol. XIV, pp. 2038-2041).

On December 30, 1996, Thomas Woodel worked the 4:00 to 11:00 shift. (Vol. XI, p. 1531) His cleaning duties would have kept him at the restaurant past the 11:00 closing time. (Vol. XI, p. 1531)

Mr. Woodel worked the same shift on New Year's Eve. (Vol. XI, p. 1534-1535) Pat Mueller did not notice anything different about him when he was working. (Vol. XI, p. 1535) After work, the Pizza Hut employees, including Thomas Woodel, went to Leola Kilbourn's house in Outdoor Resorts of America for a short New Year's Eve celebration. (Vol. XI, pp. 1535-1537)

Mr. Woodel would have worked at Pizza Hut after the New Year's Eve celebration and prior to his arrest shortly thereafter. (Vol. XI, p. 1530) He did not appear to Pat Mueller to be acting unusual or different from the way he normally acted. (Vol. XI, p. 1538)

Thomas Woodel was a very hard-working employee who always volunteered to do the dirty work. (Vol. XI, pp. 1541-1542) He was friendly and somewhat like a peacemaker, and Mueller never encountered any problems with him. (Vol. XI, pp. 1540, 1542)

Clifford and Bernice Moody were residents of Illinois, but spent the winters at Outdoor Resorts of America. (Vol. X, pp. 1320-1321) Clifford Moody wore a hearing aid and glasses, but he could see well. (Vol. X, pp. 1327, 1699) He had had open-heart surgery in August or September of 1996, but was doing

extremely well. (Vol. X, pp. 1327-1328) According to Maryann Richard, the Moodys' oldest child, "[H]e wasn't doing cartwheels, but he felt really, really good." (Vol. X, p. 1327) Bernice Moody also wore glasses, but had perfect hearing. (Vol. X, p. 1328) She was a very hard worker. (Vol. X, p. 1328) In March or April before her death, Bernice Moody had slipped and fallen and broken her arm. (Vol. X, pp. 1328-1329) She did exercises and "was back to normal other than the fact that she lost a lot of strength in that arm." (Vol. X, p. 1329)

The Moodys owned two units that were side-by-side at Outdoor Resorts. (Vol. X, pp. 1321-1322) Prior to their deaths, the Moodys were preparing the second unit to rent out to Lavern O'Connell. (Vol. X, pp. 1326-1327)

Thomas Collick knew the Moodys very well and, like them, was a seasonal resident at Outdoor Resorts. (Vol. XII, pp. 1673-1674, 1676) He power-washed both the units the Moodys owned, finishing the driveway of the unit they occupied on the morning of December 31, 1996. (Vol. XII, pp. 1678, 1680-1682, 1711, 1714-1715) When he arrived at the Moodys around 8:30 a.m., Collick knocked on the door and rang the doorbell, but there was no answer. (Vol. XII, pp. 1681-1682) He and his wife, Kathryn, power-washed all they could, everything except underneath the Moodys' car, which was parked in the driveway, and went home. (Vol. XII, pp. 1682-1683)

Elmer Schultz was working security at the guardhouse of Outdoor Resorts from late night December 30 to early morning December 31, 1996. (Vol. XII, pp. 1735-1736) His shift would have begun around 11:40 p.m. and ended around 5:30 or 5:40 a.m. (Vol. XII, p. 1736, 1740) Nobody walked through the gate that night while Schultz was on duty. (Vol. XII, pp. 1738, 1752) The only other way someone could have gotten into the park was to climb an eight-foot fence with barbed wire on top that surrounded the entire park. (Vol. XII, pp. 1738-1739)

Mr. Schultz saw Clifford Moody arrive at the laundromat at Outdoor Resorts around 5:00 that morning. (Vol. XII, pp. 1741-1742) He was driving his car and was alone. (Vol. XII, pp. 1741-1742) Clifford Moody was still at the laundromat when Mr. Schultz left to go home. (Vol. XII, p. 1742)

Lavern O'Connel, from Illinois, had made arrangements with the Moodys to rent the second unit they owned for three months after seeing an ad in a newspaper. (Vol. XII, pp. 1724-1725) He and his wife arrived at Outdoor Resorts at approximately 12:45 p.m. and stopped at the security gate, as Mrs. Moody had told Mr. O'Connel that she would leave the key and instructions there. (Vol. XII, p. 1726) There was no key and no instructions, but the guard gave Mr. O'Connel a pass so that he could go to where the unit was. (Vol. XII, p. 1726) When he and his wife arrived at the unit they were going to rent, there was

a car next door, which Mr. O'Connel assumed belonged to the Moodys. (Vol. XII, pp. 1726-1727) Mr. O'Connel pounded on the door of the unit where the car was, but received no answer. (Vol. XII, p. 1727) He went next door to the unit he was going to rent and tried the screen door; it was open and he went inside. (Vol. XII, p. 1727) He found a man he assumed was Mr. Moody lying on his back. (Vol. XII, p. 1730) Mr. O'Connel thought he had had a heart attack, and went to find a phone to call 911, when he found Mrs. Moody in the bedroom with blood all over her. (Vol. XII, p. 1730) He went outside, saw a man mowing his lawn, and borrowed his phone to call 911. (Vol. XII, pp. 1732-1733) Afterwards, he encountered Thomas Collick and told him there were two bodies in the trailer. (Vol. XII, pp. 1687, 1733) Mr. Collick went into the trailer, saw Bernice and Cliff Moody, then went to get his wife, who was a critical care registered nurse. (Vol. XII, pp. 1687-1688, 1716) Kathryn Collick found Clifford Moody on the living room floor and checked for vital signs, but found no pulse. (Vol. XII, p. 1716) Bernice was on the bed in the bedroom, nude except for tennis shoes. (Vol. XII, p. 1717)⁵ Kathryn Collick touched her leg, and knew from her experience that there was nothing she could do for her. (Vol. XII, p. 1717)

⁵ Crime scene technician Laura Sheffield testified that when she observed Mrs. Moody at the scene on December 31, 1996, she had socks on, but no shoes. (Vol. XI, p. 1435)

When Alan Cloud of the Polk County Sheriff's Office arrived at the scene, he first observed the body of Mr. Moody. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1818-1819) His pants had been pulled down, and one could see several stab wounds to him. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1819-1820) Mrs. Moody was in another room, lying on a bed. (Vol. XIII, p. 1820) She was not clothed, except for two nylon socks. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1820-1821) There was "an extensive amount of blood on the mattress and on the wall behind her and also on the ceiling." (Vol. XIII, p. 1820) When her body was turned over, law enforcement personnel found pieces of what appeared to be a toilet tank lid. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1821-1822)

Laura Sheffield, a crime scene technician with the Polk County Sheriff's Office, responded to the scene on the afternoon of December 31, 1996. (Vol. X, pp. 1347-1349) She took photographs of the exterior of unit 532 at Outdoor Resorts as well as the interior, including areas of suspected blood. (Vol. X, pp. 1355-1371, 1388, 1399-1425; Vol. XI, pp. 1434-1436) Ms. Sheffield subsequently collected various blood samples within the residence, as well as other items, such as a towel, a butcher block, five knives that were in the butcher block, two nightgowns, panties with apparent blood on them that had been tied into a knot, two shoes, one of which had apparent blood on it, pieces of porcelain found underneath Mrs. Moody's body, a piece of toilet paper with apparent blood on it, and a shirt

belonging to Mr. Moody. (Vol. X, pp. 1297, 1362, 1375-1380, 1384; Vol. XI, pp. 1436-1444) Another crime scene technician, Laurie Ward, took a videotape of the scene, which was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit Number 1 and published to the jury over defense objections. (Vol. X, pp. 1420-1421; Vol. XI, pp. 1427-1434, 1452-1453)

Ms. Sheffield also attended the autopsies of Mr. and Mrs. Moody, which were conducted on January 2 [1997]. (Vol. XI, p. 1446) She took photographs, and received blood samples taken from both Mr. and Mrs. Moody. (Vol. XI, pp. 1447-1450)

Dr. Alexander Melamud went to the scene on the day the bodies were discovered and performed the autopsies on Clifford and Bernice Moody. (Vol. XII, p. 1779) However, Dr. Melamud had retired prior to Thomas Woodel's new penalty trial, and so Dr. Stephen Nelson, Chief Medical Examiner for the Tenth Circuit, testified regarding the results of the autopsies. (Vol. XII, p. 1774-Vol. XIII, p. 1815) Dr. Melamud's assessment was that death occurred during the early morning hours on the same day the bodies were found, and Dr. Nelson did not disagree. (Vol. XII, pp. 1782-1784) Bernice Moody incurred a total of 56 stab wounds, some of which were defensive wounds, as well as abrasions, and bruising on her neck and around her eye. (Vol. XII, pp. 1790-1795) The stab wounds resulted in internal injuries to her lung, liver, kidney, jugular vein on the right

side of her neck, neck organs, and voice box. (Vol. XIII, p. 1798) As a result, there was internal and external hemorrhage. (Vol. XIII, p. 1798) Her injuries included fractures to her voice box and some of her nasal bones. (Vol. XIII, p. 1799) The stab wounds were inflicted while Mrs. Moody was still alive and would have been painful. (Vol. XIII, pp. 796, 1799-1800)

The toxicological screen showed that Bernice Moody had Tylenol, Benadryl, and caffeine in her system. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1802-1803)

Mrs. Moody was five feet, four and one-half inches tall, and weighed 158 pounds. (Vol. XIII, p. 1803)

The mechanism of Bernice Moody's death was that she bled to death because of her injuries. (Vol. XIII, p. 1804) The cause of death was multiple stab wounds. (Vol. XIII, p. 1804) And the manner of death was homicide. (Vol. XIII, p. 1804)

Clifford Moody was stabbed eight times: five to his torso and three to his buttocks. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1809-1811) The stabs injured his right lung, diaphragm, spleen, and small bowel. (Vol. XIII, pp. 1811-1812)

The toxicology report for Mr. Moody showed that he had nothing in his system. (Vol. XIII, p. 1814)

Clifford Moody was five feet, seven inches tall, and weighed 158 pounds. (Vol. XIII, p. 1814)

The mechanism of death for Mr. Moody was blood loss; the cause of death was multiple stab wounds and homicide. (Vol. XIII, p. 1815)

On January 3, 1997, sheriff's office personnel recovered evidence from the dumpsters at Outdoor Resorts of America that included a black wallet containing credit cards with Clifford Moody's name on them, two driver's licenses with his name on them (one from Illinois and one from Florida), a key ring with five keys on it that said "Cliff's set," two pieces of a toilet tank lid with apparent blood on them, a letter addressed to Christina Stogner (who was Thomas Woodel's girlfriend), a paper with the name of Christopher Woodel on it that also contained a social security number and some other information. (Vol. XI, pp. 1460-1464, 1469-1471, 1505-1506, 1539; Vol. XIII, p. 1825) These items were inside a corn flakes box that was inside a white plastic garbage bag. (Vol. XI, p. 1464; Vol. XIII, p. 1825) In the bag, or at least in the same area, there was also a pair of white socks with apparent blood stains on them, and an Orlando Sentinel newspaper dated Monday, December 30, 1996. (Vol. XI, pp. 1465-1466)

Also on January 3, 1997, Mark Taylor of the sheriff's department obtained written consents to search the mobile home located on lot 301 from Thomas and Bobbie Woodel, both of whom were very cooperative when the deputies spoke with them. (Vol.

XI, pp. 1553-1555, 1561-1562) Items seized from the residence pursuant to the search included a knife that was wedged between the back of a desk and the wall in a bedroom, a towel with stains on it, a bucket that was in a bathroom. (Vol. XI, pp. 1483-1486, 1557-1558, 1560-1561)

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