#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. WOODEL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-1336

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. \_\_\_\_\_/

> ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

> > ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0503843 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

At the end of jury selection, all parties expressly accepted the panel (V9/1158). Counsel for Woodel then offered the following comments:

MR. COLON: I just wanted to renew one objection, and it had to do with the necessity of having to eliminate Hispanic jurors because of the -- I don't know -- even know what you call it. But the problem that we can have an interpreter for jury selection but we can't have them for jury deliberation, which makes no sense. But I understand that is not a Court ruling, that's just the way it is.

THE COURT: Well, you told me -- it is a court ruling that you can't take them in the jury room, but not this Court.

MR. COLON: Based on the law.

THE COURT: I'm following the law.

MR. COLON: That's what I'm saying. You're following the law. So it's really a constitutional issue. It's not like -- I don't think you're exercising discretion. You're doing what you're told to do.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. COLON: But I certainly think it's a violation of the Eighth Amendment because my client cannot have a full cross-section of the community because a person doesn't speak the language.

THE COURT: And an interpreter. I don't know. Interesting.

(V9/1158-59).

From this discussion, it is clear that there is no ruling from the lower court for this Court to consider. Although defense counsel vaguely asserted a "constitutional issue," he did not secure any constitutional ruling from the judge, and he did not request that any particular relief be granted. It is not clear whether Woodel believes that the "accepted" jury panel should have been stricken, whether prospective jurors Castillo and Casanova should have been recalled and subjected to further questioning with an interpreter, or whether some other remedial action should have been taken. Even on appeal, the specific contours of his argument are not well-defined. Because no sufficient objection was offered to the court below, this claim must be specifically rejected as procedurally barred.

To the extent that a facial attack on Florida's prohibition

against an interpreter's participation in jury deliberations<sup>1</sup> can be discerned from the comments below, no fair cross section violation appears. First of all, an asserted violation of the fair cross section requirement is a claim of systemic discrimination which Woodel has not demonstrated or even alleged in this case. In order to establish a prima facie violation of the Sixth Amendment fair-cross-section requirement, a defendant must show (1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a "distinctive" group in the community; (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such in the community; and (3) that this persons underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process. Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 363-364 (1979); United States v. Henderson, 409 F.3d 1293, 1305-1306 (11th Cir. 2005).

Woodel has failed to establish any one of these elements. He made no attempt below to offer any evidence relating to the identity of the particular class he felt was being underrepresented, and made no attempt to suggest the cause of any alleged underrepresentation. No Sixth Amendment claim is available on these facts. <u>Gordon v. State</u>, 863 So. 2d 1215,

 $<sup>^{\</sup>perp}$  Other than that expressly authorized by Section 90.6063(2), Florida Statutes (1993).

1218 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to preserve fair cross section argument where defendant failed to make prima facie showing under Duren).

A fair cross section claim would fail initially in this case because individuals who don't speak English well are not a distinct class for purposes of needing representation on a jury. Duren requires that a group be of sufficient magnitude and distinctiveness in the community to warrant community representation. 439 U.S. at 370. While Hispanics or Latinos may be recognized as a distinct ethnic group, see State v. Alen, 616 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993), there is no independently recognized subgroup within this class defined only by individuals that are not fluent enough in English to participate as a juror without the help of an interpreter. Such a subgroup would not be limited to Hispanics but would encompass anyone who is not fluent in the English language. See Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352 (1991) (upholding acceptance of prosecutor's peremptory strikes motivated by concerns bilingual jurors would not accept official interpretations, finding such race-neutral concerns could be directed to both Latinos and non-Latinos).

Even if the subgroup of individuals not proficient in English could be considered a distinct class worthy of community representation under <u>Duren</u>, Woodel has offered no statistical

showing as to how large this class is within his community or the extent to which he believes the class was underrepresented in his venire. <u>See United States v. Rodriguez</u>, 776 F.2d 1509, 1511 (11th Cir. 1985) (assessing the fairness and reasonableness of a group's representation requires a comparison between the percentage of the "distinctive group" on the qualified jury wheel and the percentage of the group among the population eligible for jury service in the division; fair cross section violation generally requires at least ten percent disparity in underrepresentation). Such evidence is the heart of a fair cross section challenge, and no Sixth Amendment attack can be sustained without it. Woodel's failure to even suggest possible numbers to support his claim defeats this issue.

Furthermore, even if Woodel could establish that a distinct non-English group was disproportionately excluded from jury service in Florida due to the prohibition against any unauthorized person participating in jury deliberations, a faircross-section violation may be overcome by a sufficiently compelling state interest. <u>Duren</u>, 439 U.S. at 367-68 (violation rebutted if "a significant state interest is manifestly and primarily advanced by those aspects of the jury selection process" which result in the disproportionate exclusion). Surely protection of the recognized and time-honored sanctity of jury deliberations is a valid concern which justifies whatever

minimal impact it may have on proportional representation of potential jurors who are not fluent in English. <u>See Henderson</u>, 409 F.3d at 1305-1306 (finding exclusion for police officers and others with arrest powers to be legitimate state interest notwithstanding minimal impact on representation).

It is significant to note that, under federal law, fluency in the English language is in fact required in order for an individual to be qualified for jury service. See 28 U.S.C. §1865(b)(2),(3). This codification demonstrates other substantial state interests, over and above the sanctity of jury deliberations, to support any potential underrepresentation of non-English speaking jurors. Presumably, the federal recognition of dangers to the jury process created by participation of individuals that are not proficient in English reflects a sufficient interest to justify any minimal impact on the right to a fair cross section jury.

<u>Duren</u> recognizes that exemption from jury service "based on special hardship, incapacity, or community needs," is not likely to leave a remaining jury pool that is not representative of the community. 439 U.S. at 370. <u>Hernandez</u> and 28 U.S.C. §1865(b)(2) reflect that language and translation concerns can generate race-neutral justifications for exempting otherwise qualified individuals from jury service. On the facts of this case, Woodel's claim that his Sixth Amendment right to jury by a

fair cross section of his community was violated must be denied as both barred and meritless.

On appeal, Woodel's fair cross section claim has been expanded to incorporate other legal and constitutional arguments, including the assertion of an equal protection violation. Woodel recites several statutes, Sections 40.01, 40.013, and 913.03, Florida Statutes, relating to juror qualification and cause challenges. He claims that both his right to a jury comprised of people representing a fair cross section of the community and the right of the dismissed jurors to serve on a jury are implicated. Clearly, these arguments were not submitted below and no claim of equal protection violation or any other impropriety has been preserved for appellate review. Thus, the other aspects which he now raises must also be expressly denied as procedurally barred.

In addition, these arguments are similarly without merit. The reliance on Florida statutes is evidently to support a claim that, if a person is not disqualified as a matter of law, they cannot be "denied the opportunity of jury service arbitrarily or without sound basis," citing <u>Porter v. State</u>, 160 So. 2d 104, 109 (Fla. 1964) (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 62). There can be no reasonable basis for concluding that Castillo and Casanova were excused from jury service "arbitrarily" or "without sound basis" on the facts of this case; as the record establishes,

they were excused because they could not participate in jury deliberations without the assistance of an interpreter, which is not authorized by law.

Because there was no improper motive behind the excusal of these prospective jurors, any unpreserved equal protection claim must also fail. Woodel cannot succeed in showing а constitutional violation under the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment unless he can demonstrate that prospective jurors Castillo and Casanova were excused from jury service due to discriminatory and invidious intent. а Hernandez, 500 U.S. at 359-60 (proof of discriminatory intent or purpose required to show equal protection violation). Yet no finding of improper intent is available in this case. The record fully establishes that Castillo and Casanova were not excused in order to keep Hispanics from serving on Woodel's jury, but because they could not understand the English language sufficiently to participate in jury deliberations unassisted, as required by law.

As Woodel recognizes, excusal of these prospective jurors was compelled by Florida law. In <u>DiLorenzo v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), a new trial was awarded after an official Spanish language interpreter was permitted to accompany a Spanish speaking juror into deliberations. It did not become clear until after the jury had been sworn that one of the jurors

had difficulty understanding the English language, and at that point an interpreter was provided to assist the juror in understanding the trial. The Fourth District held that the common law sanctity of the jury room requires a finding of fundamental error when an unauthorized person is permitted to intrude on deliberations.

In <u>Morales v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), the Second District rejected an attempt to secure a new trial based on the clerk having excused Hispanics from the venire that requested to be excused and indicated a difficulty with the English language. Noting the <u>DiLorenzo</u> decision, the court agreed that no individual had a right to "serve" as a juror, only the right not to be excluded from service due to racial, gender, or ethnic discrimination that is protected. <u>Id.</u>, 768 So. 2d at 476; DiLorenzo, 711 So. 2d at 1363.

<u>Morales</u> clearly supports and authorizes the trial court's action below. To the extent Woodel attempts to distinguish it by suggesting that prospective jurors Castillo and Casanova were more willing to serve than the dismissed juror in <u>Morales</u>, this is a factual matter which is irrelevant to the *facial* challenge Woodel has presented. He has acknowledged that his argument relates a constitutional issue created by the trial court's blind application of the law, without regard to any discretionary acts. To now suggest the court had some

discretion or may have been justified in excusing these jurors on different facts is contrary to Woodel's position below and does not advance his claim on appeal.

Finally, this Court's opinion in <u>Cook v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1989), lends support for the cause dismissals entered by the court below on Castillo and Casanova. In <u>Cook</u>, the defendant challenged the trial court's refusal to strike, for cause, two Hispanic prospective jurors that indicated some difficulty with the English language. After extensive colloquy, the trial court determined that both individuals could understand the language sufficiently to participate in the trial, and the defendant was forced to use his peremptory challenges to exclude them from the panel. In upholding the court's discretion to deny the cause challenges, this Court commented:

With the large influx of persons of Hispanic origin, it can now be expected that many jury venires in south Florida will contain persons who do not use textbook English grammar. However, it is the ability to understand English rather than to speak it perfectly which is important. See United States v. Rouco. After an extensive colloquy, the trial judge was satisfied that Mr. Sergio and Mr. Boan had an adequate comprehension of English to serve fairly on the jury. We are in no position to say that he was wrong.

542 So. 2d at 970 (emphasis added). This passage implicitly holds that, had the judge determined the potential jurors could

not adequately comprehend the English language, excusing them for cause would have been required.

No Sixth Amendment error occurred in the selection of Woodel's jury panel. His request for a new penalty phase proceeding on this issue must be denied.

#### ISSUE II

## WHETHER A NEW PROCEEDING IS REQUIRED BY UNOBJECTED-TO TESTIMONY FROM STATE WITNESS ARTHUR WHITE.

Woodel next contends that the admission of irrelevant and prejudicial testimony from state witness Arthur White denied his right to a fair trial. As there was no objection to the challenged testimony below, any potential error has not been preserved for appellate review. <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 786, 790 (Fla. 1992). This Court can only grant relief if any error is fundamental. Error can only be deemed "fundamental" when it "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." <u>Overton v. State</u>, 801 So. 2d 877, 902 (Fla. 2001); <u>Kilgore v. State</u>, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996). A review of the record establishes that this standard cannot be met in this issue.

Arthur White met Woodel in 1997 when Woodel was arrested for these murders and White was incarcerated at the Polk County Jail; White and Woodel shared a cell (V12/1654). White saw a news story about the murders with Woodel's picture, and asked Woodel what had happened (V12/1656-57). Woodel told White that he had been coming home, drunk, and saw the female victim cleaning a window, and asked her the time; she had given it to

him and closed the curtain (V12/1657). He then went around to the other side of the patio and went in the home (V12/1657). The woman was coming through the hallway by the kitchen, and reached for a knife. They struggled over the knife and he pushed her down, getting cut a few times.

White did not believe that Woodel intended to kill the woman, but was drunk and startled by the knife (V12/1658). Woodel told White that the woman was wearing her night clothes, and at one point in time Woodel knocked her down, ripped her nightgown, and drug her into the bedroom (V12/1658). Woodel also told White that when they were in the bedroom, he fondled the woman, and then he left her in the bedroom and went into the bathroom to wash up (V12/1658-59). He heard the male victim enter the home and there was a confrontation and the man was stabbed (V12/1660). Woodel told White that he took the knife with him when he left and later got rid of it (V12/1661).

Woodel now claims that a new resentencing proceeding is necessary due to White's unobjected-to testimony about Woodel's admission to having fondled Bernice Moody. However, the admission of this testimony was not error, let alone fundamental error, and no new resentencing is warranted.

The admission of evidence at a penalty phase proceeding is governed by Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes. That law provides, in pertinent part:

In the proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant and shall include matters relating to any of the aggravating or mitigating circumstances enumerated in subsections (5) and (6). Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements.

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